## UNCTAD Compendium of Investment Laws



## Bulgaria

#### **INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT (1997)**

Unofficial translation

#### Note

The Investment Laws Navigator is based upon sources believed to be accurate and reliable and is intended to be up-to-date at the time it was generated. It is made available with the understanding that UNCTAD is not engaged in rendering legal or other professional services. To confirm that the information has not been affected or changed by recent developments, traditional legal research techniques should be used, including checking primary sources where appropriate. While every effort is made to ensure the accuracy and completeness of its content, UNCTAD assumes no responsibility for eventual errors or omissions in the data.

The year indicated in brackets after the title of the law refers to the year of publication in the Official Gazette or, when this is not available, the year of adoption of the law.

https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org

#### **Contents**

Chapter one.
GENERAL PROVISIONS
Chapter two.
STATE POLICY IN THE SPHERE OF INVESTMENTS

(Title amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004) Chapter three.

INVESTMENT PROMOTION (Title amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

Section I. Conditions and Investment Promotion Measures (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) Section II. Order of Issuing a Certificate (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; title amend. - SG 41/09)

Section III. Application of Investment Promotion Measures (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) Chapter four. PRIORITY INVESTMENT PROJECTS AND INVESTMENT PROJECTS OF MUNICIPAL SIGNIFICANCE (DEL. - SG 37/04, IN FORCE FROM 04.05.2004; NEW – SG 41/09; TITLE AMEND. - SG 16/13)

Section I. Priority Investment Projects of National and Regional Significance (New - SG 16/13)

Section II. Investment Projects of Municipal Significance (New - SG 16/13)

Chapter five. RIGHTS OVER REAL ESTATES(revoked, SG 37/04; in force from May 4/2004)

Chapter six. NATIONAL MECHANISM FOR SCREENING FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENTS, RELATED TO SECURITY OR PUBLIC ORDER, IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION (EU) 2019/452 (REPEALED - SG, 37/04, EFFECTIVE FROM 05.08.2004, NEW - SG, 20/24)

Chapter six "a". CONTROL OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INVESTMENT PROJECTS (New – SG 16/13) Chapter seven. ADMINISTRATIVE AND PUNITIVE PROVISIONS

Additional provisions (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

Transitional and concluding provisions

Transitional and concluding provisions (SG 37/04)

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE COMMERCIAL REGISTER ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE WATERS ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE STATE AID LAW

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions ON THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions ON THE ACT AMENDING THE TOURISM ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE PRIVATIONSATION AND POST PRIVATISATION CONTROL ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE MINISTRY OF INTERIOR ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE CIVIL SERVANTS ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE SPATIAL DEVELOPMENT ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTATING THE ACT ON PROHIBITION OF CHEMICAL WEAPONS AND ON CONTROL OF TOXIC CHEMICAL AGENTS AND THEIR PRECURSORS

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTATING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE CONCESSIONS ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACT (PROM. - SG 21/20, IN FORCE FROM 13.03.2020) § 56. The Act shall enter into force on the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette. ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT Concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT (PROM. - SG 22/22, IN FORCE FROM 18.03.2022)

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT, AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT (PROM. – SG, 20/24)

#### INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

(Title amend., SG 37/04)

Prom. SG. 97/24 Oct 1997, corr. SG. 99/29 Oct 1997, suppl. SG. 29/13 Mar 1998, amend. SG. 153/23 Dec 1998, amend. SG. 110/17 Dec 1999, amend. SG. 28/19 Mar 2002, amend. SG. 37/4 May 2004, corr. SG. 40/14 May 2004, amend. SG. 34/25 Apr 2006, amend. SG. 59/21 Jul 2006, amend. SG. 65/11 Aug 2006, amend. SG. 82

/10 Oct 2006, amend. SG. 86/24 Oct 2006, amend. SG. 42/29 May 2007, amend. SG. 69/5 Aug 2008, amend. SG. 41/2 Jun 2009, amend. SG. 82/16 Oct 2009, amend. SG. 18/5 Mar 2010, amend. SG. 88/9 Nov 2010, amend. SG. 100/21 Dec 2010, amend. SG. 38/18 May 2012, amend. SG. 45/15 Jun 2012, amend. SG. 82/26 Oct 2012, amend. SG. 15/15 Feb

2013, amend. SG. 16/19 Feb 2013, amend. SG. 66

/26 Jul 2013, amend. SG. 98/28 Nov 2014, amend. SG. 14/20 Feb 2015, amend. SG. 32/5 May 2015, amend. SG. 61/11 Aug 2015, amend. SG. 85/24 Oct 2017, amend. SG. 96/1 Dec 2017, amend. and suppl. SG. 20/6 Mar 2018, amend. and suppl. SG. 44/4 Jun 2019, amend. SG. 21/13 Mar 2020, amend. SG. 17/26 Feb 2021, amend. and suppl. SG. 21/12 Mar 2021, amend. and suppl. SG. 22/18 Mar

2022, amend. and suppl. SG. 20/8 Mar 2024

#### Chapter one.

#### **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

Art. 1. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; prev. text of Art. 01 – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. – SG 41/09)

This Act settles the terms and the order of encouraging investments on the territory of the Republic of Bulgaria, the activity of the state bodies in the sphere of encouraging investments, as well as their protection.

- (2) (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.07) The main purposes of this Act shall be:
- 1. (suppl. SG 41/09) raising the competitive abilities of the Bulgarian economy through increase of the investments for science research, innovations and technological development in high added value production and services by observing the principles of steady development;
- 2. (amend. SG 41/09) improvement of the investment climate and overcoming the regional divergence in the socioeconomic development;
- 3. creating new and highly productive job positions.
- (3) (New SG, 20/24) This Act shall provide for the conditions and procedure for conducting screening of foreign direct investments, related to security or public order, in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2019/452 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 March 2019, establishing a framework for the screening of foreign direct investments into the Union, (OJ, L 79 I/1 of 21 March 2019), hereinafter referred to as "Regulation (EU) 2019/452".

Art. 2. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 41/09)

Investment promotion under this Act shall be carried out mainly by:

- 1. (amend. SG 16/13) administrative servicing in reduced terms and individual administrative servicing;
- 2. sale or for profit constitution of limited real rights in estates that are private state or private municipal property without auction or contest according to market or lower prices;
- 3. sale or for profit constitution of limited real rights in terrains with developed inbound technical infrastructure of public state ownership without auction or contest according to market or lower prices;
- 4. financial assistance for development of technical infrastructure components;
- 5. financial assistance for training and acquisition of professional qualification;
- 6. (new SG 16/13) financial aid for partial refund of the mandatory insurance payments made to the state social insurance, additional mandatory pension insurance and mandatory health insurance for the account of the investor as an employer to the benefit of newly hired employees for the implementation of the investment project;
- 7. (amend. SG 96/17, in force from 02.01.2018) possibilities for other forms of state aid, institutional support or constitution of mixed companies for priority investment projects;
- 8. (revoked SG 21/21)
- 9. (prev. text of Item 06 SG 16/13) tax relief under the Corporate Income Taxation Act.

#### Art. 2a. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 41/09)

- (1) (amend. SG 16/13; amend. SG 32/15, amend. SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018) The provisions for encouraging the investments under Chapters Three and Four shall implement the requirements of Commission Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 of 17 June 2014 declaring certain categories of aid compatible with the internal market in application of Article 107 and 108 of the Treaty Text with EEA relevance (OJ, L 187/1 of 26 June 2014), and Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/1084 of 14 June 2017 amending Regulation (EU) № 651/2014 as regards aid to port and airport infrastructures, thresholds for notification of aid for culture and heritage conservation, and aid for sport and multifunctional recreational infrastructures, as well as regional operating aid schemes for the outermost regions and amending Regulation (EU) № 702/2014 as regards the calculation of eligible costs (OJ, L 156/1 of 20 June 2017, hereinafter referred to as "Regulation (EC) No. 651/2014".
- (2) (amend. SG 32/15) The aid measures for investment promotion shall apply as a multi sector scheme for regional investment aid and training aid scheme, meeting all requirements of Chapter I, as well as all corresponding provisions of Chapter III of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 regarding the compliance with the common market within the meaning of Art. 107, Paragraph 3 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union and shall be exempted from the notification obligation of Art. 108, Paragraph 3 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union subject to compliance with the provisions of Art. 3 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014.

(3) (amend. – SG 32/15) The individual regional investment aid measures or individual training aid failing to meet the requirements under Para 2 and of Regulation (EC) No. 651/2014 shall be notified to the European Commission, hereinafter referred as "the Commission" in compliance with Art. 108 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union.

#### Art. 3.

- (1) If an international agreement, party to which is the Republic of Bulgaria, stipulates more favourable conditions for carrying out economic activity by foreigners the more favourable conditions shall apply according to the international agreement.
- (2) (revoked SG 16/13)
- Art. 4. (revoked SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)
- Art. 5. (revoked, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)
- Art. 6. (revoked SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)
- Art. 7. (amend. SG 34/06, in force from 01.10.2006; revoked SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)
- Art. 8. (revoked, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)
- Art. 9. (revoked, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

#### Chapter two.

## STATE POLICY IN THE SPHERE OF INVESTMENTS (Title amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

#### Art. 10. (amend,. SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

- (1) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The Minister of Innovation and Growth shall provide the implementation of the state policy in the sphere of the investments in interaction with the bodies of the executive authority.
- (2) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The Minister of Innovation and Growth:
- 1. work out a strategy for encouraging the investments in the country in cooperation with the bodies of the executive authority and interested non-government organizations, which shall be adopted by the Council of

#### Ministers;

- 2. (suppl. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09) work out and implement investment promotion programmes and measures in cooperation with the executive authorities and the interested non-governmental organizations;
- 3. work out and propose draft normative acts for promotion of investment activity in the country;

- 4. represent the Republic of Bulgaria in international organizations in the sphere of investments;
- 5. (amend. SG 16/13) make proposals for inclusion in the Act on the State Budget of the Republic of Bulgaria for the respective year of the necessary investment promotion funds under Items 7 and 8;
- 6. (new SG 16/13) make proposals for joining operative programmes, co-financed by the European Union funds, for investment promotion measures referred to in Items 7 and 8;
- 7. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; prev. text of Item 06, suppl. SG 16/13) issue certificates for investment classes and priority investment projects and make proposals to the Council of Ministers for implementation of investment promotion measures under the order of this Act;
- 8. (new SG 41/09; prev. text of Item 07 SG 16/13) submit to the Council of Ministers proposals for memoranda or agreements under Art. 22f;
- 9. (new SG 44/19, amend. SG 21/21, revoked SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022)

### Art. 11. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) The regional governor shall:
- 1. provide the implementation of the state policy in the investment promotion sphere of on the territory of the region;
- 2. (amend. SG 21/20, in force from 13.03.2020) organize the development of investment promotion measures and coordinate their implementation; the measures shall be developed in compliance with the strategy referred to in Art. 10, Para 2, Item 1;
- 3. coordinate the activities of the executive authorities and their administration on the territory of the region referred to in Items 1 and 2;
- 4. (new SG 16/13) exercise control of the lawfulness of the acts and actions of the local self-government and local administration authorities when applying the provisions of Chapter Four. Section II.
- (2) The mayor of the municipality shall:
- 1. (amend. SG 21/20, in force from 13.03.2020) provide the implementation of the investment promotion policy on the territory of the municipality in the development and implementation of the plan for integrated development and of the programme of its implementation;
- 2. assist in application of the investment promotion under this Act;
- 3. (new SG 16/13) issue a certificate for investment projects with municipal significance and implement the promotion measures within his or her competence.
- (3) (suppl. SG 16/13) The mayor of the municipality may authorize the mayors of regions and the mayors of mayoralties to exercise the functions referred to in Para 2, Items 1 and 2.

- (1) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) Established is Bulgarian Investments Agency, called hereinafter "the Agency", which shall assist the Minister of Innovation and Growth in implementing the state policy in the sphere of encouraging the investments.
- (2) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The

Agency is a corporate body at budget support with a seat in Sofia and has a status of executive agency at the Minister of Innovation and Growth.

- (3) The structure and activity of the Agency shall be determined by a structural regulation adopted by the Council of Ministers.
- (4) The annual state budget act of the Republic of Bulgaria shall provide for expedient resources for carrying out investment marketing by the Agency.
- (5) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; revoked SG 38/12, in force from 01.07.2012)
- (6) (revoked SG 38/12, in force from 01.07.2012)

#### Art. 11b. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

The Agency shall:

- 1. carry out the informational servicing of the investors;
- 2. carry out investment marketing, presenting and advertising abroad the possibilities of investing in the country;
- 3. carry out individual administrative servicing of the investors by the order of this Act;
- 4. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) draw up a plan for attracting and servicing investors and present it for approval to the Minister of Innovation and Growth by 31 December of the preceding year; the plan shall be updated in quarterly during the current year;
- 5. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) work out an annual report for the investments in the country and for the terms of their promotion, which shall be presented through the Minister of Innovation and Growth to the Council of Ministers:
- 6. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) draw up quarterly reports on its activity in relation to the annual plan referred to in Item 4, which shall be presented to the Minister of Innovation and Growth;
- 7. keep an Internet site with information for:
- a) the investment and business climate in the country;
- b) (amend. SG 21/21) vacant land for industrial parks, industrial zones and technology parks for making investments by regions in the country with economical and investment profile of the region;

- c) (amend. SG 16/13) forms and samples for applying for certificate for class A, class B investments and priority investment project and using the promotion measures under this Act;
- d) (new SG 16/13) the issued certificates as set out in this Act;
- e) (new SG 16/13) the websites of the municipalities, on which the information referred to in Art.22i, Item 7 has been published;
- e) (prev. text of Item "d" SG 16/13) other information;
- 8. (new SG 41/09) issue a document certifying the implementation of the investment project at the request of the investor or of the competent local or central government authority on occasion of the implementation of the promotion measure in compliance with the law;
- 9. (new SG, 20/24) notify the Interdepartmental Council for screening foreign direct investments, related to security or public order of the received applications for issuing permits under Chapter Six.

#### Art. 11c. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

- (1) (amend. SG 41/09) The Agency shall maintain for statistical purposes an informational system which shall gather data for the investments in the country.
- (2) (amend. SG 41/09) For completing the informational system the Agency shall receive data from:
- 1. (suppl. SG 41/09) the National Statistical Institute for the expenditures made for the period for acquiring long-term tangible assets at the end of every quarter;
- 2. the Bulgarian National Bank for the foreign investments made in the country during the period at the end of every quarter;
- 3. (new SG 41/09) the Registry Agency for the registrations in the Commercial register in the end of every quarter:
- 4. (prev. text of Item 03 SG 41/09) other central and territorial bodies of the executive authority upon request by the Agency.
- (3) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG 16/13; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The Agency shall submit data for the investments to the Minister of Innovation and Growth, to other state bodies and interested persons by an order determined by the structural regulation of the Agency .

#### Chapter three.

## **INVESTMENT PROMOTION (Title amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)**

Section I. Conditions and Investment Promotion Measures (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

### Art. 12. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. - SG 41/09)

- (1) (suppl. SG 16/13; amend. SG 32/15) Under the order of this Chapter and Chapter Four shall be encouraged the investments in long-term material and immaterial assets and the new job positions, made on the territory of the Republic of Bulgaria, in compliance with the requirements of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014.
- (2) The investments referred to in Para 1 shall meet the following requirements:
- 1. to be related to the setting-up of a new establishment, the extension of an existing establishment/activity, diversification of the output of an establishment into new additional products or a fundamental change in the overall production process of an existing establishment/activity;
- 2. to be made in economical activities specified in the regulations on the implementation of the law with the relevant codes determined according to the effective Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Community (NACE), respectively its direct implementation in the Republic of Bulgaria through the corresponding classification;
- 3. (amend. SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018) at least 80 per cent of the revenues from the implemented investment project to be from economic activities under item 2 for the term under item 8:
- 4. (amend. SG 32/15) the term of performing the investment to be three years at most from the date of commencing the work on the project by its finalization, including the large investment projects in the sense of Art. 2, Paragraph 52 and Art. 14, paragraph 13 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014;
- 5. (suppl. SG 16/13) not to be under the minimum amount for a single site as determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act, which amount may be reduced:
- a) (amend. SG 16/13) up to three times for investment projects to be fully implemented within the administrative boundaries of the economically unfavored regions specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- b) (amend. SG 16/13) up to three times for investments in high-tech activities from the industrial sector of the economy specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- c) (amend. SG 16/13) up to five times for investments in the high-tech activities from the sector of services specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- d) (new G 16/13) more than five times in case of creating and maintaining employment in the sense of Item 7in high-tech activities or economically unfavoured regions and up to three times in other economic activities, where the requirements to the employment shall be determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- e) (new SG, 20/24) over five times for investments for strategic sites for national security importance;
- 6. (amend. SG 16/13) at least 40 percent of the allowable expenses for tangible and intangible assets to be financed through investor's own funds or external financing in a form excluding public support;
- 7. (amend. SG 16/13; amend. SG 32/15) to create and maintain employment fulfilling simultaneously the conditions of Art. 14, Paragraph 9 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014:

- a) to be directly related to the implementation of the investment project;
- b) the investment project shall lead to a net increase in the number of employees in the establishment/organization concerned, compared with the average number of employees over the previous 12 months;
- c) the employment created shall be maintained during a minimum period of 5 years in the case of large enterprise and a minimum period of three years in case of small and medium enterprises.
- 8. (amend. SG 32/15) the investment in the economical activity under Item 2 to be maintained in the region at the location concerned for at least 5 years, and in case of small and medium enterprises three years, commencing on the date of its completion in the sense of Art.14 Paragraph 5 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014;
- 9. (amend. SG 32/15) the acquired long term tangible and intangible assets shall be new and purchased under market conditions by third parties independent of the investor in the sense of Art. 14 Paragraph 6 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014;
- 10. (amend. SG 32/15) fulfillment of other conditions under Chapter I and the special provisions of Chapter III of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 regarding the investment for providing aid under Art. 2a.

### Art. 13. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) Shall not be encouraged the investments of any person:
- 1. convicted with a conviction in force unless rehabilitated;
- 2. declared insolvent or under insolvency procedure, or who has concluded an extrajudicial agreement with the creditors in the sense of Art. 740 of the Commerce Act;
- 3. under liquidation proceedings;
- 4. with pecuniary obligations to the state or to a municipality in the sense of Art. 162, Para 2 of the TaxInsurance Procedure Code, which have been established by an act in force of a competent authority, unless rescheduling or deferring of the obligations has been admitted;
- 5. (new SG 16/13) that is due employment remunerations to employees, established in an penal decree in force.
- (2) Shall not be encouraged the investments of any foreign person, for whom in the state of his establishment any of the circumstances referred to in Para 1 are available according to his national legislation.
- (3) The requirement of Para 1, Item 1 shall not apply to the sole proprietors of the capital, to the managers or to the members of the managing bodies of the investor, and provided that the members are legal persons to their representatives in the management body in question.

#### Art. 13a. (amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

No investments shall be encouraged:

- 1. (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) in enterprises falling within the requirements under Art. 1, Paragraph 4 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014;
- 2. (amend. SG 45/12, in force from 01.09.2012, amend. SG 96/17, in force from 02.01.2018, amend. SG 17/21) for performance of privatisation or concession contracts under the Privatisation and Post-privatisation Control Act or for performance of concession contracts for extraction of underground natural resources under the Underground Natural Resources Act and for performance of offset agreements;
- 3. (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) for activities and economy sectors specified in Art. 1, Paragraph 2, items "c" and "d" and paragraph 3, items "a" "d" and Art. 13, items "a" "c" of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014.

### Art. 14. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. - SG 41/09)

- (1) (amend. SG 16/13) For investments meeting the requirements of Art. 12 13a shall be issued a certificate under Art. 20 which shall grant rights to use the measures under Art. 15, Para 1.
- (2) (suppl. SG 16/13; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The investments under Para 1 shall be determined as class A or class B on the basis of the criteria for the minimum amount of the investments and employment referred to in Art. 12, Para 2, Item 5. The Minister of Innovation and Growth shall issue a certificate under Art. 20, Para 1 for implementation of the measures referred to in Art. 15, Para 1.
- (3) (new SG 16/13; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 21/21, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The investments referred to in Para 1 shall qualify as a priority investment project pursuant to the criteria for minimum amount of the investments and employment specified in Art. 22f, Para 1. The priority investment project certificate shall be issued on the basis of a decision of the Council of Ministers under Art. 22f, Para 3. The priority investment project certificate shall be signed by the Minister of Innovation and Growth or by the Minister of Innovation and Growth and another authorised person, including a regional governor or a mayor or a representative of the academic community in respect of industrial parks as set out in Art. 22f, Para 4 for implementation of the measures under Art. 15, Para 2.
- (4) (new SG 16/13) The investments referred to in Para 1 shall qualify as class B with municipal significance pursuant to the criteria for minimum amount of the investments and employment specified in Art. 22h, Para 2. The certificate shall be issued by the mayor of the municipality on the basis of a decision of the municipal council under Art. 22i, Item 3 for implementation of the measures under Art. 22h, Para 3.

## Art. 15. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) (1) (amend. - SG 41/09; suppl. - SG 16/13)

The investment that have been granted a certificate under Art. 20, Para 1, Item 1 as class A or class B shall be encouraged to complete the investment project through:

- 1. short terms for administrative servicing according to the procedure of Art. 21;
- 2. individual administrative servicing necessary for realization of the investment project according to the procedure of Art. 22;

- 3. obtaining ownership or limited real rights in property according to the procedure of Art. 22a;
- 4. financial aid for construction of components of the technical infrastructure necessary for realization of one or more investment projects according to the procedure of Art. 22b;
- 5. financial aid for training for acquiring vocational qualification by persons, including trainees from the universities in the country occupying the new job positions related to investments according to the procedure of Art. 22c;
- 6. (new SG 16/13) financial aid for partial refund of the mandatory insurance payments for state public insurance, for additional mandatory pension insurance and for mandatory health insurance of new employees made for the account of the investor as an employer under Art. 22e.
- (2) (new SG 16/13) The priority investment projects referred to in Art. 22f may be encouraged by a package of measures as set out in Art. 22f, Para 2. The funds required for implementation of the financial measures shall be allocated pursuant to the decision of the Council of Ministers under Art. 22g, Para 3.
- (3) (new SG 16/13) The investment projects with municipal significance with granted class B certificate by the mayor of the municipality shall be encouraged with the measures under Art. 22h, Para 3.
- (4) (prev. text of Para 02, amend. and suppl. SG 16/13; amend. SG 61/15) \* The investments referred to in Para 1 3 shall be encouraged also by the order of the

Corporate Income Taxation Act, the Value Added Tax Act, the Employment Promotion Act and the Farm Lands Ownership and Use Act, if meeting the requirements specified in them.

- (5) (amend. SG 15/13, in force from 01.01.2014; prev. text of Para 03, amend. SG 16/13) The necessary resources for implementation of the measures under Para 1, Item 4 6 shall be specified annually in the Act on the State Budget of the Republic of Bulgaria.
- (6) (new SG 16/13) Funds for implementation of the financial measures under Para 1 and 2 shall be made available also through the operative programmes, jointly funded through the European Union funds.

### Art. 16. (1) (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. - SG 41/09; prev. text of Art. 16, amend. - SG 16/13)

The investment promotion measures referred to in Art. 15, Para 1, Items 4 - 6 and Art. 22f, Para 2, Item 1 shall apply when:

- 1. the investor has submitted an application under Art. 18, Para 1 before the beginning of the work on the investment project;
- 2. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) the Minister of Innovation and Growth by means of the certificate referred to in Art. 20, Para 1, Item 1 has certified in writing:
- a) (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) the principal compliance of the project with the conditions of eligibility of the regional investment aid scheme according to Regulation (EC) No 651/2014, or

- b) (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) his intention to apply the measure, provided that it will be approved by the European Commission by the order of the State Aid Act in the cases where the measure constitutes state aid not eligible for group exempt according to Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 regarding the regional investment aid;
- 3. (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) the requirements of Art. 2a on implementation of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 have been met;
- 4. (amend. SG 41/09) there is a positive opinion for the investment project of the competent authority on environment a positive decision on the assessment of the environmental impact under the legislation in force;
- 5. (new SG 16/13) the investor and the legal persons under Art. 17, Para 1 shall declare that they have not late payments due to goods and services suppliers for the purpose of the implementation of the investment project.
- (2) (new SG 16/13; amend. SG 61/15, amend. SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) \* Where an investment promotion measure is applied as referred to in Art. 15, Para 1, Item 3 or Para 4, shall be submitted a document certifying the preliminary consent of the relevant competent authority.

#### Art. 17. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) The investment promotion measures may apply to legal persons, in which the investor whose project has been certified holds at least 75 percent of the registered capital.
- (2) The investor and the legal persons referred to in Para 1 shall be liable jointly and severally for the performance of their duties on realization of the investment.

## Section II. Order of Issuing a Certificate (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; title amend. - SG 41/09)

#### Art. 18. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) (amend. SG 16/13) To be granted a class A, class B or a priority investment project investment certificate under Art. 14, Para 2 and 3 the investor shall submit an application to the Executive Director of the Agency in which he shall indicate the investment promotion measures under Art. 15, Para 1, 2 and 4 he wants to use.
- (2) The investor shall enclose with the application an investment project and the necessary documents specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.
- (3) (amend. SG 100/10, in force from 01.07.2011, amend. SG 85/17) The application and the documents referred to in Para 1 and 2 may be presented also in electronic form signed with qualified electronic signature under the Regulation (EU) No 910/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 July 2014 on electronic identification and trust services for electronic transactions in the internal market and repealing Directive 1999/93/EC (OB, L 257/73 of 28 August 2014) and Electronic Document and Electronic Trust Services Act.
- (4) The requirements for the investment project shall be determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.

(5) (new - SG 16/13) The investor shall file an application with the mayor of the municipality for the grant of a class B investment certificate indicating the measures referred to in Art. 15, Para 3 and 4, in compliance with Para 2 - 4.

### Art. 19. (1) (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; prev. text of Art. 19 - SG 16/13)

The Executive Director of the Agency shall:

- 1. (suppl. SG 16/13) assess the submitted documents referred to in Art. 18, Para 1 4 by order determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- 2. notify the investor for established non-compliance and/or incompleteness of the documents referred to in Art. 18 and shall specify a term for their elimination;
- 3. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) draw up on the basis of the assessment referred to in Item 1 a motivated proposal to the Minister of Innovation and Growth for granting or refusal to grant a class of investment certificate;
- 4. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) send to the Minister of Innovation and Growth the proposal referred to in Item 3 together with the enclosed documents referred to in Art. 18 within 30 days from their submission.
- (2) (new SG 16/13) The mayor of municipality shall:
- 1. assess the filed documents referred to in Art. 18, Para 5;
- 2. inform the investor of any non-compliance found and/or deficiencies of the documents referred to in Art. 18, Para 5 and provide a term for their remedy;
- 3. on the basis of the assessment under Item 1 draw up a reasoned proposal to the council of ministers for issue of a certificate for a class B investment or for refusal in the cases referred to in Art. 19a;
- 4. send to the municipal council the proposal referred to in Item 3 accompanied by the required documents under Art. 18, Para 5 within 30 days from their submission.

#### Art. 19a. (new - SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

Class of investment certificate shall not be granted when:

- 1. the requirements of Art. 18 are not met, or
- 2. the investment does not meet the conditions under Art. 12, or
- 3. some of the circumstances under Art. 13a are available, or
- 4. the investment is made by a person under Art. 13, or
- 5. there is non-compliance and/or incompleteness of the presented documents under Art. 18 and it has not been eliminated within 6 months from the date of submission of the application.

Art. 20. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) (1) (amend. - SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. – SG, 14/15, amend. - SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022)

The Minister of Innovation and Growth or an official authorized by him shall:

- 1. (suppl. SG 16/13) grant a certificate by which the class of investment is determined as class A, class B or as a priority investment project under Art. 22f on the basis of a devision of the Council of Ministers, under order determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- 2. refuse to grant a certificate in the cases referred to in Art. 19a;
- 3. (amend. SG 16/13; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) publish information for the certified and encouraged investments under the present Act on the website of the Ministry of Innovation and Growth or of the Agency.
- (2) (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG 16/13; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) Upon request of the Minister of Innovation and Growth or the mayor of a municipality the Minister of Finance, the Minister of Labour and Social Policy and the other competent authorities shall provide information of the investments certified under this Act which are encouraged by the order of Art. 15, Para 4.
- (3) (new SG 16/13) The mayor of a municipality shall:
- 1. grant a class B investment certificate pursuant to a decision of the municipal council as referred to in Art. 22h and 22i;
- 2. refuse to grant a certificate for a class B investment in the cases of Art. 19a;
- 3. provide information for the certified and encouraged class B investments under the present Act on the website of the municipality together with the annual report under Art. 22i, Item 8.

#### Art. 20a. (New - SG 16/13; amend. - SG, 14/15, amend. - SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022)

At the request of an investor the Minister of Innovation and Growth may extend once the term of validity of the certificate referred to in Art. 20, Para 1, Item 1 up to two years under procedure for its grant, where:

- 1. the administrative service was not provided within the time limits under Art. 21 for a reason independent of the will of the investor;
- 2. the measure referred to in Art. 22a was not implemented for a reason independent of the will of the investor;
- 3. the investment project was not fully or partially implemented due to force majeure reasons, indicated in a contract or agreement with the investor under the present Act, or under the applicable law of the European Union.

## Section III. Application of Investment Promotion Measures (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

Art. 21. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) When a class of investment certificate is presented the central and territorial bodies of the executive authority shall provide administrative servicing of the investors in terms by one-third shorter than those specified in the normative acts unless in the cases of Para 2-5.
- (2) The administrative servicing shall be provided by the competent authorities within 5 days from submission of the investor's request in the cases under: 1. (suppl. SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018) Art. 140, Para 1, Art. 141, Para. 8, item 2 and Art. 144, Para 3, Item 1 of the Spatial Development Act; 2. Art. 26, Para 3 of the Roads Act; 3. (repealed SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018)
- (3) The administrative servicing shall be provided by the competent authorities within 14 days from submission of investor's request in the cases of: 1. (amend. SG 41/09, amend. SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018) Art. 141, Para 8, item 1 and Art. 144, Para 3, Item 2 of the Spatial Development Act; 2. (repealed SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018) 3. Art. 62a, Para 1 of the Acton Waters.
- (4) (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 82/12, in force from 26.11.2012) The administrative servicing shall be carried out by the competent authorities within 30 days from submission of a request by the investor in the cases under Art. 62a, Para 3 of the Spatial Development Act.
- (5) (amend. SG 69/08; amend. SG 88/10, in force from 01.01.2011) According to their competence the authorities of the state sanitary control and the authorities for fire safety and population protection shall issue the necessary documents within 14 days in order administrative servicing of the investors holding class of investment certificates to be provided.

#### Art. 22. (revoked, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) The individual administrative servicing necessary for realizing class A investments shall be provided by employees of the Agency before all central bodies of the executive authority, and in the rest of the cases by employees from the administration of the territorial bodies of the executive authority under Art. 22d, Para 1.
- (2) For performance of individual administrative servicing the investor shall authorize the persons under Para 1 and shall provide the necessary documents to them.
- (3) In performance of individual administrative servicing of an investor the persons under Para 1 shall be obliged to:
- 1. provide to the investor complete and accurate information on the necessary documents, terms and fees specified in the special laws;
- 2. assist in issuing and receipt from the competent authorities all necessary documents for realization of the investment in question and for performance of the economic activity related to it.
- (4) The fees for issuing the documents referred to in Para 3, Item 2 specified in a normative act shall be at the expense of the investor.
- (5) The order of individual administrative servicing shall be determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.

- (1) Upon request of an investor holding a class of investment certificate the competent authority may:
- 1. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG 66/13, in force from 26.07.2013; amend. SG 98/14, in force from 28.11.2014; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) perform sale of immovable property of private state ownership at the place of investment without auction, after assessment and with the written consent of the Minister of Regional Development and Public Works, and regarding properties managed by the Ministry of Defence without auction, after assessment and with the written consent of the Minister of Defence, after which the district governor shall issue an order for transferring the right of ownership and shall conclude a contract with the investor;
- 2. perform sale of immovable property of private municipal ownership at the place of investment without auction or contest, after assessment and decision of the Municipal Council; on the basis of the decision the mayor of municipality shall issue an order and conclude a contract with the investor;
- 3. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG 66/13, in force from 26.07.2013; amend. SG 98/14, in force from 28.11.2014; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) arrange for recompense limited real right in immovable property of private state ownership at the place of investment without auction, after assessment and with the written consent of the Minister of Regional Development and Public Works, after which the district governor shall issue an order for arranging limited real right and shall conclude a contract with the investor;
- 4. arrange for recompense limited real right in immovable property of private municipal ownership at the place of investment without auction or contest, after assessment and decision of the Municipal Council; on the basis of the decision the mayor of municipality shall issue an order and conclude a contract with the investor.
- (2) (amend. and suppl. SG 41/09) The assessment referred to in Para 1 shall be performed by at least two independent assessors and the final market price shall not be lower than the average of the value according to the independent assessments performed. The authority referred to in Para 1 may assign assessment of the compliance of the size of the property for the purposes of the completion of the investment project.
- (3) (suppl. SG 41/09; suppl. SG 16/13) The failure to perform the investment project in respect of term and amount of investment shall be included in the contract as grounds for cancellation. Grounds for cancellation shall be also the failure to begin work on the investment project within two years from conclusion of the contract under Para 1. The investment shall be deemed as failed, where its amount is below the minimum determined in Art. 12, Para 2, Item 5, and the requirement of Para 13 has not been met, as established in the financial reports and a reference certified by a registered auditor according to the Independent Financial Audit Act. The costs related to the activities of the auditor shall be for the account of the investor.
- (4) The contracts referred to in Para 1 shall be formed in writing and shall be registered by an order of the judge on registrations at the location of the property.
- (5) (Suppl. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The competent authority under Para. 1, 10 and 11 shall send to the Agency a copy of the contract within 7 days from its conclusion.

- (6) (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The information of the completed transactions with immovable properties of private state and private municipal ownership, as well as for the transactions under para. 1, 10 and 11 and of the results of performance of the contracts shall be timely provided by the Agency to the Minister of Innovation and Growth and shall be entered in the annual report referred to in Art. 11b, Item 5.
- (7) (amend. SG 41/09, amend. SG 21/21) The investor and/or the person under Art. 17 may not dispose of the properties obtained by the order of Para 1 and may not transfer to third persons the limited real rights assigned in them before expiration of the term under Art. 12, Para 2, Item 8, except for an investment project envisaging the construction of an industrial park.
- (8) (suppl. SG 41/09) The contracts referred to in Para 1 shall be concluded under the conditions of the legislation in the field of the state aid in force and according to a procedure, specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.
- (9) (new SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) The rights in properties under Para 1 may be transferred or assigned for prices lower than those on the market, where the price shall not be lower than the tax assessment of the property, concerning priority investment projects under Art. 22f, provided that all requirements for applying the regional investment aid scheme under Regulation (EC) No 651/2014, specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act, have been met.
- (10) (new SG 41/09; suppl. SG 18/10, in force from 05.03.2010) Single member companies with state or municipal share or companies which capital is owned by single member companies with state share may sell, exchange or assign limited real rights for valuable consideration in properties without auction or contest: 1. (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) at the request of an investor that has been granted a class of investment certificate and with the permission in writing of the single owner of the capital; an assessment according to the procedure of Para 2 shall be made and the requirements of Para 3 8 shall apply in such cases; 2. (amend. SG 32/15) for priority investment projects under Art. 22f at lower than market prices, where the price shall not be lower than the tax assessment of the property, with the permission in writing of the single owner of the capital, provided that all requirements for applying the scheme for regional investment aid under Regulation (EC) No 651/2014, specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act, have been met.
- (11) (new SG 41/09) Single member companies with state or municipal share may lease their own properties through direct negotiations, following an assessment by an independent assessor and permission by the single owner of the capital regarding priority investment projects under Art. 22f.
- (12) (new SG 41/09) No state fees shall be due in respect of private state property or private municipal property terrains made available by the competent authority under Art. 22, Para 1, and also terrains made available under the order of Para 10, Item 2, undergoing changes of the land purpose to allow the realization of priority investment projects. The same rights shall enjoy also the investors and the persons under Art. 22f, Para 1 and 4 in respect of terrains required to realize priority investment projects at the location of the investment, where this measure shall be part of the package of promotion measures under Art. 22f, Para 2.

(13) (new – SG 16/13) The rights in the properties referred to in Para 1 and Para 10, Item 2 may be assigned or arranged only if the amount of the planned investment as costs for long-term tangible assets exceeds 5 times the market value of the property referred to in Para 2. The failure to perform this requirement shall be indicated in the contract with the investor as grounds for its cancellation under Para 3.

Art. 22b. (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) (1) (amend. - SG 41/09; amend. - SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. – SG, 14/15, amend. - SG 21/21, amend. - SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022)

Upon proposal by the Minister of Innovation and Growth the Council of Ministers may grant funds for financial support of construction of technical infrastructure components – public municipal ownership or state ownership, from the closest component of the infrastructure already built to the borders of:

- 1. the real estate for realization of a class "A" investment;
- 2. industrial park entered in the register of industrial parks.
- (2) (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The Minister of Innovation and Growth may propose to the Council of Ministers to provide funds for financial support under Para 1 when the requirements of Art. 16 have been fulfilled.
- (3) The relations regarding the construction of the technical infrastructure under Para 1 shall be arranged in the Rules on Implementation of the Act in compliance with the legislation in the field of state aid in force.
- (4) (amend. SG 41/09) The investments under Para 1 realized in high-tech activities or within the administrative borders of economically unfavoured regions shall be encouraged with priority.

Art. 22c. (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) (1) (amend. - SG 41/09; amend. - SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. – SG, 14/15, amend. - SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022)

Upon proposal by the Minister of Innovation and Growth the Council of Ministers may grant funds for financial support of the training for acquiring vocational qualification by persons, including trainees from universities in the country, who have occupied the new job positions created with the realization of a class A or class B investment, when:

- 1. (amend. SG 41/09) the investment is realized in high-tech activities or entirely within the administrative borders of economically unfavoured regions;
- 2. (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 16/13) the employment created by the investment meets simultaneously all the requirements under Art. 12, Para 2, Item 7;
- 3. (suppl. SG 41/09) the annual employment remuneration of the persons occupied under employment relationship in the enterprise is higher than the average in the country for the economical activity in which the investment project is realized according to data of the National Statistical Institute for the period of maintaining the employment under Art. 12, Para 2, Item 7.
- (2) The investor-employer may carry out training for acquiring vocational qualification through a training organization or independently within the limits of the funds under Para 1.

- (3) (amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) The relations regarding to the training for acquiring vocational qualification shall be regulated according to Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 regarding training aid and by order determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.
- (4) (revoked SG 16/13)

#### Art. 22d. (new - SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) In every central and territorial administration shall be determined officials who shall carry out administrative servicing of investors holding class of investment certificates or of representatives authorized by them for realization of their investment projects.
- (2) All central bodies of the executive authority shall be obliged to render assistance to the employees of the Agency in performance of individual administrative servicing of the investors.

### Art. 22e. (new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. - SG 41/09; amend. - SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. – SG 16/13)

- (1) (amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) At the proposal of the Minister of Innovation and Growth, the Council of Ministers may provide funds for partial reimbursement, for a period not longer than 24 months from the opening of the working position, of the mandatory insurance payments for the state public insurance, for the additional mandatory pension insurance and for the mandatory health insurance of the employees on the newly opened employment positions, made by the investor for his account as an employer, where all of the following conditions have been met:
- 1. the investment has been granted a class A, class B or priority investment project certificate;
- 2. the employment created by the implementation of the investment project, determined as the average staff number, meets the requirements referred to in Art. 12, Para 2, Item 5 and Item 7, Letters "a" and "b";
- 3. the annual salary of the employed persons in the undertaking of the investor exceeds the average for the country for the respective economic activity, where the investment project takes place, according to data of the National Statistics Institute for the period of maintaining the employment under Art. 12, Para 2, Item 7, Letter "c"; 4. the person implementing the investment referred to in Item 1 does not have obligations arising from failure to perform contracts under programmes, measures and trainings according to the Employment Promotion Act; 5. no funds have been received for the same expenses from other public financing sources.
- (2) For implementation of the measure referred to in Para 1 the newly opened working places shall be occupied by Bulgarian citizens, nationals of another Member State of the European Union, or another state party to the Agreement on the European Economic Area, of the Swiss Confederation or by person under Art. 18, Para 3 of the Employment Promotion Act.
- (3) The investments referred to in Para 1, Item 1 made for high-tech activities or within the administrative boundaries of the economically unfavoured reasons shall be encouraged with priority.

- (4) (amend. SG 32/15) The provision of funds referred to in Para 1 shall be carried out in compliance with the requirements of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014.
- (5) The conditions and order for application of Para 1 4 shall be determined in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.

# Chapter four. PRIORITY INVESTMENT PROJECTS AND INVESTMENT PROJECTS OF MUNICIPAL SIGNIFICANCE (DEL. - SG 37/04, IN FORCE FROM 04.05.2004; NEW – SG 41/09; TITLE AMEND. - SG 16/13)

## Section I. Priority Investment Projects of National and Regional Significance (New - SG 16/13)

Art. 22f. (new - SG 41/09) (1) (amend. - SG 32/15, suppl. - SG, 20/24)

Priority shall have the investment projects being implemented in economic activities, determined according to the provisions of Art. 12, par. 2, item 2 and which are particularly important for the economic development, defense and national security of the Republic of Bulgaria or the regions of the country. They shall meet one or more of the following requirements:

- 1. the investments amount shall exceed at least three times the minimum amount under Art. 12. Para 2. Item 5 for Class A, specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- 2. create employment in the sense of Art. 12, Para 2, Item 7 through investments in unfavoured regions or in high-tech activities, where the minimum number of employed persons shall be specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- 3. (suppl. SG 21/21) provide for the construction of of industrial zones with the necessary technical infrastructure for attracting investments under conditions and order, specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act or construction of an industrial parks entered in the register of industrial parks;
- 4. provide for the construction of technological parks with the required technical infrastructure for attracting investments to scientific research and/or training, and/or information technologies, including innovative activities for technological renovation of manufactured products and technologies under conditions and order, specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.
- 5. (new SG 20/24) provide for the construction or expansion of production and warehouse bases with the necessary technical infrastructure of strategic sites of national security importance.
- (2) The priority investment projects may be encouraged by measues packages including:
- 1. (amend. SG 16/13) the measures under Art. 15, Para 1 and 4 for class A and class B investments, including:

- a) the financial aid for development of technical infrastructure under Art. 22b may apply to other components of the technical infrastructure, specified in the regulations on implementation of the law:
- b) (amend. SG 32/15) other regional investment aid measures, defined as transparent aid in the sense of Art. 5 of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014;
- 2. the measures under Art. 22a, Para 9 12;
- 3. (amend. SG 96/17, in force from 02.01.2018) institutional support.
- 4. (new SG, 20/24) for priority investment projects under Para. 1, item 5, the requirements of Art. 12, Para. 2, item 3 and Art. 22a, Para. 13 shall not apply.
- (3) (amend. SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) The Minister of Innovation and Growth shall submit to the Council of Ministers a proposal for signing a memorandum or agreement between the government of the Republic of Bulgaria and an investor, whose investment intentions meet the requirements of Para 1.
- (4) (Amend. SG 21/21) The proposal referred to in Para 3 shall be submitted to the Council of Ministers following a written request by an investor with an investment project under Para 1, Items 1 3, as well as by interested authorities of the territorial executive and of the local selfgovernment at the location of the investment. In the cases under para. 1, item 3, when the industrial park is intended for attracting investments in research and / or education, and / or information technologies, including innovative activities for technological renewal of industrial products and technologies the proposal shall be submitted also on the basis of a written request from a university or other academic organization.
- (5) (amend. SG 32/15) The promotion of priority investment projects shall be made under conditions and order specified in the Rules on Implementation of the Act, according to Regulation (EC) No 651/2014 as a state aid scheme and/or in compliance with the requirements of the State Aid Act.

### Art. 22g. (new – SG 41/09) (1) (amend. - SG 82/09, in force from 16.10.2009; amend. – SG, 14/15, amend. - SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022)

Upon proposal by the Ministry of Innovation and Growth the Council of Ministers may create and inter-institutional working group to provide institutional support to a priority investment project, which may include representatives of the interested authorities of the central and territorial executive, of the academic society and the non-governmental organizations. (2) Single member companies with state or municipal share and budget enterprises in the sense of the Accountancy Act may be co-founders of a trade company though direct agreement with an investor under Art. 22f following a decision of the competent authority.

## Section II. Investment Projects of Municipal Significance (New - SG 16/13)

Art. 22h. (new - SG 16/13)

- (1) For promotion of investments of municipal significance the municipal council shall adopt an ordinance specifying the conditions and order for grant of a class B certificate and the implementation of the measures according to the requirements of Chapter Three and the Rules on Implementation of the Act.
- (2) The projects of municipal significance shall be encouraged as class B investments under Art. 14, Para 4, if they are implemented within the administrative boundaries of a certain municipality and meet the requirements of the ordinance referred to in Para 1. The projects:
- 1. may be implemented in all sectors of economy except those referred to in Art. 13a, Item 3; the economic activities shall be determined according to the current Statistical classification of economic activities in the European Community (NACE), respectively its direct implementation in the Republic of Bulgaria through the corresponding classification;
- 2. shall provide for an investment size exceeding the minimum amount of class B under Art. 12, Para 2, Item 5 set out in the Rules on Implementation of the Act;
- 3. create employment in the sense of Art. 12, Para 2, Item 7 and the minimum amount of employed persons may be a criteria for the grant of a class B certificate together with the amount of investment.
- (3) The investments of municipal significance that have been granted a class B certificate shall be encouraged for implementation of the investment project through:
- 1. reduced terms for administrative services provided by the municipality on the territory of the investment;
- 2. individual administrative services provided by the municipality of the territory of the investment;
- 3. acquisition of ownership or limited real rights in properties private municipal property, as set out in Art. 22a, Para 1, Items 2 and 4 in compliance with the requirements under Art. 22a, Para 2 8 and 13; the measure shall be implemented if not applied for by an investor under Art. 18 in case of grant of a class A, class B or priority investment project certificate for the same property private municipal property.

#### Art. 22i. (new - SG 16/13)

The mayor of the municipality shall:

- 1. draw up pursuant to a decision of the municipal council and propose for adoption the ordinance referred to in Art. 22h, Para 1;
- 2. publish the ordinance referred to in Art. 22h, Para 1 on the website of the municipality within 14 days from its adoption by the municipal council;
- 3. grant or refuse to grant a class B investment certificate following a decision of the municipal council pursuant to Art. 20;
- 4. implement promotion measures under Art. 22h, Para 3 according to a procedure specified in the ordinance referred to in Art. 22h, Para 1;
- 5. in cases of implementation of the measure under Art. 22h, Para 1, Items 2 and 4 to properties private municipal property, appoint the preparation of an assessment in the sense of Art. 22a, Para 2;

- 6. provide information to the regional governor of the received investment proposals, issued class B certificates and the implementation of the measure referred to in Art. 22a, Para 1, Items 2 and 4:
- 7. maintain on the website of the municipality: a) un up-to-date list of available terrains and other immovable property for implementation of investments; b) forms and samples for applications for grant of a certificate for a class B investment and use of the promotion measures according to the ordinance referred to in Art. 22h, Para 1; c) information of the granted class B certificates by the municipality;
- 8. draw up an annual report of granted class B investment certificates and provided promotion measures, which shall be submitted to the regional governor and the executive director of the Agency and which shall form part of the annual investments report in the country referred to in Art. 11b, Item 5.

## Chapter five. RIGHTS OVER REAL ESTATES(revoked, SG 37/04; in force from May 4/2004)

Art. 23. (revoked, SG 37/04; in force from May 4 2004; new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

In respect of foreign investments realized before amendments of the legislation establishing normative restrictions only to foreign investments shall apply the statute provisions which have been in force at the moment of realization of the investment.

Art. 24. (revoked, SG 37/04; in force from May 4 2004; new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

- (1) The foreign persons entitled to carry out commercial activity under their national legislation may establish their commercial representations in the country which shall be registered in the Bulgarian Chamber of Commerce and Industry.
- (2) The representations under Para 1 shall not be deemed legal persons and may not carry out economical activity.
- (3) The transactions concluded by the foreign person with local persons for the needs of a representation under Para 1 registered by them shall be carried out by the order of formation of transactions by local persons.

#### Art. 25. (revoked, SG 37/04; in force from May 4 2004; new – SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007)

Any foreign natural person or partnership not considered a legal person, if registered with the right to carry out commercial activity under its national law, may establish a branch. The branch shall be registered in the commercial register at the Registration Agency.

Art. 26. (revoked, SG 37/04; in force from May 4 2004)

# Chapter six. NATIONAL MECHANISM FOR SCREENING FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENTS, RELATED TO SECURITY OR PUBLIC ORDER, IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION (EU) 2019/452 (REPEALED - SG, 37/04, EFFECTIVE FROM 05.08.2004, NEW - SG, 20/24)

Art. 27. (Repealed, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004, new - SG, 20/24)

- (1) A foreign direct investment by a foreign investor shall be carried out after issuance of a permit by the Interdepartmental Council for Screening Foreign Direct Investments, hereinafter referred to as the "Interdepartmental Screening Council", if it concerns the areas of activity, specified in Art. 4, Paragraph 1 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452, and meets one of the following conditions:
- 1. through the implementation of the investment, the ownership of at least 10 percent of the capital of an enterprise operating in the country is acquired, or the value of the investment exceeds the threshold of EUR 2,000,000, or their BGN equivalent;
- 2. through the implementation of the investment, the ownership of at least 10 percent of the capital of an enterprise is acquired, that operates in the country and carries out high-tech activities;
- 3. a new investment is made, that exceeds the threshold of EUR 2,000,000, or their BGN equivalent.
- (2) Exceptionally, foreign direct investments, that are new investments or do not exceed the threshold of EUR 2,000,000, or their BGN equivalent may be subject to examination and authorization by the Interdepartmental Screening Council on the proposal of a member of the Council with competence in the relevant sector, in which the investment will be realized, agreed with the representatives of the National Security State Agency and the State Intelligence Agency.
- (3) All direct foreign investments in sites and activities by persons, who carry out activities under Art. 2, Para. 1, item 8 of the Act on Administrative Regulation of Economic Activities, Related to Oil and Petroleum Products shall be subject to screening.
- (4) All foreign direct investments with a foreign investor from Russia or the Republic of Belarus shall be subject to screening in accordance with this Act.
- (5) With a motivated request of the National Security State Agency and the State Intelligence Agency, a foreign direct investment shall be subject to screening by the Interdepartmental Screening Council, regardless of the criteria under Para. 1, when there is evidence, that the same may have impact on security and public order.
- (6) Screening of foreign direct investment under the conditions and in accordance with this Act shall not release the foreign investor from his obligations established in other Acts.

- (7) Foreign direct investments within the scope of Para. 1 shall be subject to screening under this Act, regardless of the investment threshold restrictions, when there is a direct or indirect participation of a country outside the European Union in the capital of the foreign investor, including significant funding from a government body. When the foreign investor is a company, whose shares are traded on a regulated market, sentence one shall apply if the direct or indirect participation of a country outside the European Union in the capital of the company is greater than 5 percent. This procedure shall not apply to the states under Para. 8 and 9.
- (8) The National Assembly, upon proposal of the Council of Ministers, shall adopt by decision a list of low-risk countries outside the European Union for the purposes of applying the screening mechanism.
- (9) For countries, included in the list under Para. 8, as well as for the United States of America, the United Kingdom of Great Britain, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Japan, the Republic of Korea, the United Arab Emirates and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the screening rules for Member States of the European Union shall apply, for the purposes of implementing the screening mechanism.

#### Art 27a. (New - SG, 20/24)

- (1) A foreign investor, who intends to make a direct foreign investment under Art. 27, Para. 1, shall be obliged to submit in advance an application for issuance of a permit.
- (2) The application for the issuance of a permit shall be submitted by the investor through the Agency to the Interdepartmental Screening Council in accordance with the procedure of this Act.
- (3) The application under Para. 1 shall be submitted simultaneously with an application for issuance of a permit, license or entry in a register, provided for in another Act. Proceedings under this Chapter shall not be grounds for suspending proceedings for issuance of a permit, license or entry in a register, provided for in another Act, except in the cases, provided for by the Act.

#### Art. 27b. (New - SG, 20/24)

- (1) The application for the issuance of a permit shall contain at least the information, specified in Art. 9, Paragraph 2 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452, as information on the necessary documents and conditions for submitting an application, as well as the application form is available on the Agency's website.
- (2) The application for issuance of a permit shall be submitted according to a sample in the Bulgarian language and with a translation in the English language. The documents, attached to the application shall be submitted in original or in copies, certified by the applicant or his authorized representative.
- (3) Within three days after its receipt, the Agency shall check the compliance of the application and the submitted documents with the requirements of the Act and Regulation (EU) 2019/452 and shall send it for consideration by the Interdepartmental Screening Council.
- (4) In the event, that the application does not meet the requirements of the Act and Regulation (EU) 2019/452, the Agency shall notify the applicant within 7 days to remedy the discrepancies.

(5) In the cases under Para. 4, the term for consideration of the application shall begin to run from the date of bringing the application into compliance with the requirements of the Act and Regulation (EU) 2019/452. (6) The applicant for issuance of a permit shall be responsible for the accuracy and completeness of the provided information.

#### Art. 27c. (New - SG, 20/24)

- (1) An Interdepartmental Screening Council for foreign direct investments, related to security or public order shall be established at the Council of Ministers.
- (2) The Interdepartmental Screening Counicl shall be a permanent collective body, that examines received applications for foreign direct investment and issues, or refuses to issue a permit for foreign direct investment. The Council shall consist of the following members:
- 1. Chairperson: Deputy Prime Minister, appointed by the Council of Ministers;
- 2. Deputy Chairperson: the Minister of Innovation and Growth or a Deputy Minister, authorized by him;
- 3. members:
- a) a representative of the Ministry of Defense;
- b) a representative of the Ministry of Interior;
- c) a representative of the Ministry of Finance;
- d) a representative of the Ministry of Health;
- e) a representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs;
- f) a representative of the Ministry of Economy and Industry;
- g) a representative of the Ministry of Transport and Communications;
- h) a representative of the Ministry of Electronic Government;
- i) a representative of the Ministry of Energy;
- j) a representative of the National Security State Agency;
- k) a representative of the Intelligence State Agency;
- I) a representative of the Competition Protection Commission;
- m)a representative of the Financial Supervision Commission;
- n) a representative of the Communications Regulation Commission;
- o) a representative of the Energy and Water Regulation Commission.
- (3) The nominal composition of the Interdepartmental Screening Council shall be determined by the Council of Ministers on the proposal of the heads of the relevant departments in accordance with the requirements, specified in the Rules on the implementation of the Act.
- (4) A secretariat shall be established to the Interdepartmental Screening Council, whose expert and technical functions shall be defined in the Rules on the organization and activities of the Council. The Secretariat shall be a unit in the administration of the Council of Ministers.

- (5) The Interagency Screening Council shall meet regularly with a quorum of the majority of its members. Decisions to issue or refuse to issue a permit shall be adopted by a majority of all the members, in accordance with the procedure, defined in the Rules on the organization and activity of the Council.
- (6) Representatives of the Competition Protection Commission, the Communications Regulation Commission, the Commission for Energy and Water Regulation and the Financial Supervision Commission shall have consultative functions and shall not participate in voting on the decisions of the Interdepartmental Screening Council.
- (7) Every 6 months, the Interdepartmental Screening Council shall prepare and submit a report on its activities to the Council of Ministers, which shall present it for consideration in the National Assembly. The report shall also include summary data on the number of applications under Art. 27f, Para. 1 and on the number of decisions under Art. 27f, Para. 2, items 1 3.
- (8) The Interdepartmental Screening Council shall prepare and send to the European Commission the annual report and the information under Art. 5, Paragraphs 1 and 2 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452.
- (9) The Council of Ministers shall adopt Rules on the organization and activities of the Interdepartmental Screening Council for the foreign direct investments, related to security or public order.

#### Art. 27d. (New - SG, 20/24)

- (1) Performance of a direct foreign investment under Art. 27, Para. 1 shall begin after issuance of a permit, in accordance with this Act by the Interdepartmental Screening Council.
- (2) The Interdepartmental Screening Council may ex officio and exceptionally initiate proceedings for verification of a foreign direct investment, that could be subject to screening under the procedure of this Act and in respect of which no application for authorization has been submitted, in the event that an opinion has been received from the European Commission or a signal, containing sufficient information from a Member State.
- (3) Within a period of up to three months from learning of a new circumstance, that is a prerequisite for the initiation of proceedings for the screening of a direct foreign investment in accordance with the procedure of this Act, the Interdepartmental Screening Council may ex officio and exceptionally initiate such proceedings.
- (4) In the cases under Para. 2, when an opinion is received from the European Commission, that requires screening of an already implemented investment or a signal from a Member State, the Interdepartmental Screening Council shall make a decision to initiate proceedings for screening of an investment, that began up to two years before receiving the opinion or the signal.
- (5) The notification, opinion or signal under Para. 3 and 4 shall be justified in cases, where the investor has started the implementation of the investment, corresponding to the conditions for performing screening under Art. 27, and has not submitted an application under Art. 27a, Para. 1.
- (6) All state bodies and officials from the state and municipal administration shall be obliged to provide the necessary information for screening purposes upon request of the Interdepartmental Screening Council.

- (1) The Interagency Screening Council shall cooperate with the European Commission in accordance with the provisions of Art. 6 and 7 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452, regarding the mechanism for cooperation with the Member states of the European Union and with the European Commission in the field of foreign direct investments.
- (2) The Interdepartmental Screening Council shall be a contact unit, according to Art. 11 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452, which shall carry out communication with the European Commission and other Member States of the European Union.

#### Art. 27f. (New - SG, 20/24)

- (1) When examining the applications for issuance of a permit for direct investments, the Interdepartmental Screening Council shall apply the criteria, specified in Art. 4 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452, under the terms and conditions of this Act and the Rules on its implementation.
- (2) The Interdepartmental Screening Council shall within 45 days of receipt of the application, respectively of the elimination of the discrepancies in it adopt a decision by which it shall:
- 1. issue a permit for foreign direct investment in Bulgaria, if the investment does not affect security or public order and is not likely to affect projects or programs of interest for the European Union;
- 2. issue a conditional permit to carry out the foreign direct investment, after the implementation by the foreign investor of restrictive measures, prescribed by the Interdepartmental Screening Council; the restrictive measures may be:
- a) limiting the right to acquisition to 20 percent of a company's capital;
- b) limiting the right to acquisition to 10 percent of the capital of a company in high-tech productions;
- c) prescriptions for personal data protection, for preserving the security of information or other upon proposal of a competent regulatory body;
- d) preservation of special rights in favor of the state, when making decisions under the competence of the general meeting and the management of capital commercial companies (the so-called "golden share"), in the cases of transactions, carried out in accordance with the Act on Privatization and Post-Privatization Control;
- 3. reject the application for issuance of a foreign direct investment permit, if it considers, that it affects the security or public order of Bulgaria or is likely to affect projects or programs of interest for the European Union.
- (3) When the foreign direct investment, that will be made in Bulgaria is likely to affect projects or programs of interest for the European Union, the Interdepartmental Screening Council shall adopt a decision in compliance with the requirements of Art. 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/452, taking into account the opinion of the European Commission. In this case, the term under Para. 2 shall cease to run until the opinion of the European Commission is received.
- (4) The Interdepartmental Screening Council shall adopt a decision under Para. 2 and in the cases of Art. 27d, Para. 2 and 3.

- (5) Depending on the specifics of the foreign direct investment under consideration and if it considers it necessary, the Interdepartmental Screening Council may request opinions from other bodies or institutions.
- (6) The opinions under Para. 5 shall have an advisory nature and shall be sent to the Interdepartmental Screening Council no later than 15 days after the request.
- (7) When there is evidence, that a foreign direct investment permit was issued on the basis of inaccurate or incomplete information from the foreign investor, the Interdepartmental Screening Council shall initiate a retrial.
- (8) The decisions of the Interdepartmental Screening Council regarding application for issuance of a foreign direct investment permit shall be individual administrative acts, they shall be communicated to the foreign investor and may be appealed in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Code.
- (9) The term under Para. 2 may be extended once by up to 30 days with a decision of the Interdepartmental Screening Council.
- (10) Lack of pronouncement within the terms under Para. 2 and 9 shall be considered tacit consent within the meaning of Art. 28 of the Act on Limitation of Administrative Regulation and Administrative Control over the Economic Activity.
- (11) The decisions under Para. 2, items 2 and 3 shall:
- 1. be taken in compliance with the principles of necessity and proportionality;
- 2. be motivated, and shall not include information, the announcement of which contradicts the protection of basic interests, related to the security of the country.

#### Art. 27g. (New - SG, 20/24)

(1) The processing, storage and destruction of information shall be carried out in accordance with the applicable legislation, depending on the nature of the data. Collected personal data shall be processed in accordance with the requirements of the Personal Data Protection Act. (2) The Chairperson, Vice-chairperson and the members of the Interdepartmental Screening Council, as well as the employees in the administration of the Agency shall have no right to distribute the information, that became known to them in the process of working on the implementation of this Act. The Chairperson, the Deputy Chairperson and the members of the Interdepartmental Screening Council should have access to classified information in accordance with the Classified Information Protection Act.

#### Art. 27h. (New - SG, 20/24)

In cases of screening proceedings under Art. 27, Para. 5 and Art. 27d, Para. 2 - 5, which ends with a decision for a conditional permit to carry out the investment, or to reject the application for issuing a permit for direct foreign investment, the costs incurred until the entry into force of the relevant decision shall be at the expense of the investor.

## Chapter six "a". CONTROL OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INVESTMENT PROJECTS (New – SG 16/13)

Art. 28. (Revoked, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004; new – SG 16/13)

- (1) The control of the implementation of the class A and class B certificates shall be carried out by:
- 1. (amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) the Minister of Innovation and Growth or an official of his administration authorized by him or by another executive authority, providing a promotion measure;
- 2. authorized by the Minister of Labour and Social Policy official in respect of the performance of a contract with the investor for provision of funds for training and performance of the employment related parameters of the investment project.
- (2) The control referred to in Para 1, Item 1 shall be carried out in respect of the implementation of the investment in terms of minimum amount and term in the corresponding economic activity.
- (3) The amount of investments made shall be attested for the accounted period through a medium and annual financial reports as set out in the Accountancy Act, accompanied by a description of the assets of the primary economic activity and their value in a reference form. The financial reports and the reference shall be certified by a registered auditor according to the Independent Financial Audit Act. The expenses for the work of the auditor shall be for the account of the investor.
- (4) The size of created employment shall be attested for the accounted period by a document of the National Revenue Agency and other documents indicated in the Rules on Implementation of the Act.

#### Art. 29. (Revoked, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004; new – SG 16/13)

The control of the implementation of the priority investment projects shall be carried out by:

- 1. the authority appointed in a decision of the Council of Ministers, or
- 2. (amend. SG, 14/15, amend. SG 22/22, in force from 18.03.2022) the Minister of Innovation and Growth or an official from his administration authorized by him or from another executive authority, providing the aid; 3. a person authorized by the Minister of Labour and Social Policy in respect of the implementation of the project in terms of the training and performance of the employment-related parameters of the investment project.

#### Art. 30. (amend., SG 110/9; Revoked, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004; new – SG 16/13)

The control of the implementation of the investment projects of municipal significance shall be carried out by the mayor of the municipality or an official authorized by him and shall be attested by the documents referred to in Art. 32a, Para 3 and 4.

Art. 31. (Revoked, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004)

Art. 32. (amend., SG 110/99; Revoked, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004)

## Chapter seven. ADMINISTRATIVE AND PUNITIVE PROVISIONS

#### Art. 33. (Revoked, SG 37/04; in force from August 8 2004)

#### Art. 34. (amend., SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

- (1) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) An official who violates or does not fulfil an obligation under Art. 20, para 1, item 1 and Art. 21 shall be punished by a fine of 500 levs unless the act represents a crime.
- (2) (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) An official who violates Art. 22, para 3 and Art. 22d, para 2 shall be punished y a fine of 1000 levs, unless the act represents a crime.
- (3) Who does not submit a requested information by the Agency, related to the servicing of an investment project, shall be punished by a fine or a material sanction from 200 to 2000 levs.
- (4) For repeated commitment of the violation under para 1-3 the fine and the material sanction shall be in double size. (5) (new SG 16/13) Any official breaching or failing to perform their duties under Art. 22h, Para 3, Items 1 or 2 shall be imposed a fine amounting to BGN 200, if the act does not qualify as a crime.

#### Art. 34a. (New - SG, 20/24)

A foreign investor under Chapter Six shall be subject to a fine or a pecuniary sanction in the amount of 5 percent of the value of the investment, but not less than BGN 50,000, when he has:

- 1. provided inaccurate, incomplete or misleading information in an application for authorization of foreign direct investment;
- 2. carried out direct foreign investment without an issued permit under the terms of this Act;
- 3. carried out a direct foreign investment in violation of the conditions of a conditional permit, issued under Art. 27f, Para. 2, item 2;
- 4. failed to comply with an imposed measure under Art. 34b

#### Art. 34b. (New - SG, 20/24)

The Interdepartmental Screening Council may, regardless of the fine or the property sanction, impose on the foreign investor restrictive measures within the meaning of Art. 27f, Para. 2, item 2, necessary to guarantee security or public order, including change in control, change and/or suspension of activity, termination of foreign direct investment and other appropriate measures. They shall be applied after negotiations between the investor and an authorized representative of the Interdepartmental Screening Council.

#### Art. 35. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

- (1) The acts for establishing committed offences under Art. 34, para 1, 2 and 3 shall be issued by officials appointed by the executive director of the Agency and the penal provisions shall be issued by the executive director of the Agency.
- (2) (new SG 16/13) The acts establishing committed offence under Art. 34, Para 5 and the penal decrees shall be drawn up as set out in the ordinance referred to in Art. 22h, Para 1. The income from imposed fines shall be for the benefit of the municipal budget.
- (3) (prev. text of Para 02 SG 16/13) The establishing of the offences, the issuance, the appeal and the fulfillment of the penal provisions shall be carried out by the order of the Administrative Violations and Penalties Act.

## Additional provisions (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

#### § 1. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004)

In the meaning of this Act:

- 1. "Foreign person" is: a) a corporate body not registered in the Republic of Bulgaria; b) a company which is not a corporate body and which is registered abroad; c) an individual a foreigner with a permanent place of residence abroad.
- 2. (amend. SG 41/09) "Independent assessor" is a person according to the Independent Valuers Act.
- 3. (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) "Individual administrative servicing" is every activity carried out by the employees of the Agency or by appointed officials from the administration of the territorial bodies of the executive authority, related to filing and receiving from the competent bodies of all documents necessary according to the current legislation for making an investment.
- 4. "Repeated" is the offence committed within one year from the enactment of the penal provision by which the perpetrator has been punished for the same kind of offence.
- 5. (amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) "Informational services" is the act of providing by the Agency of oral and written information to a person interested in investing and willing to receive information on the investment climate or to receive information on potential partners in the country, as well as on all administrative procedures pertaining to the fulfillment of the investment.
- 6. (revoked SG 41/09)
- 7. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) "Site" means any inseparable totality of long-term assets connected physically and functionally for production of a certain product or products.
- 8. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) "Commencement of work on an investment project" is one of the following events, whichever comes first: commencement of construction works related to the investment or undertaking of the first legally binding commitment for an order for equipment or any other commitment, which makes the investment irreversible. Purchasing of land and preparation works, such as obtaining of permits and carrying out of feasibility studies shall not be regarded as commencement of project works.
- 9. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; revoked SG 41/09)
- 10. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09) "Economically unfavoured regions" means: a) municipalities in which the level of unemployment is higher than the average for the country, or b) districts in which the gross added value per capita is lower than the average for the country.

- 11. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09) "High-tech activities" shall be those specified by EUROSTAT according to the Statistical Classificator of the Economic Activities in the European Community (NACE), respectively its direct implementation in the Republic of Bulgaria through the Classification of the Economical Activities, specified in the regulations on implementation of this Act, such as: a) High Tech manufacturing industries; b) services defined as Knowledge-intensive services (KIS) and High Tech Knowledge-intensive services (High-tech KIS).
- 12. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09, amend. SG 44/19, amend. SG 21/21) Industrial Park "is an industrial park entered in the register under Art. 21, para. 1 of the Industrial Parks Act.
- 13. (new SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; amend. SG 41/09, revoked SG 21/21)
- 14. (new SG 41/09) "Force majeure" means circumstances of extraordinary character that the investor has not and was not obliged to foresee or avoid despite the due care, including financial or economical crisis for the period of validity of Communication from the Commission Temporary Community Framework for State Aid Measures to Support Access to Finance in the Current Financial and Economic Crisis (OJ, C 16/1 of 22 January 2009).
- 15. (new SG 41/09; amend. SG 32/15) "Aid scheme", "individual aid", "regional investment aid", "training aid", "investment", "tangible and intangible assets", "large investment project", "eligible expenses", "working places", "employment directly created by an investment project", "small and medium enterprises" and "large enterprise" shall be terms in the sense of Regulation (EC) No 651/2014.
- 16. (new SG 16/13) "Average number of the staff list" means the created and maintained employment for the respective financial year determined according to the methodology for calculation of the list and average staff list of the National Statistics Institute and described in the annual activity report as set out in the Statistics Act, the Corporate Income Taxation Act and the Income Taxes on Natural Persons Act.
- 17. (new SG 20/18, in force from 06.03.2018) "Elements of the technical infrastructure" are elements within the meaning of Art. 64, Para. 1 of the Spatial Development Act.
- 18. (new SG, 20/24) "Strategic objects of importance for national security" are those, specified in Decree No. 181 of the Council of Ministers of July 20, 2009 on determining the strategic objects and activities, that are important for national security (prom., SG, 59/09; amend., No. 71 and 77/11, No. 67/12, No. 5 and 21/13, No. 107/14, Nos. 28 and 57/15, No. 22, 27 and 51/16, No. 86/17, No. 9 and 81/19, No. 33 and 87/21, No. 41, 47, 83 and 97/22 and No. 100/23).

#### § 1a. (New - SG 44/19, - SG 21/21, new - SG, 20/24)

Pursuant to Chapter Six of this Act:

- 1. "Foreign investor" is:
- a) a person, who is not a citizen of a Member State of the European Union, or whose seat is not located in a Member State, who has made or intends to make a direct foreign investment in Bulgaria;

- b) a legal entity, whose seat according to the organizational act is in a Member State of the European Union, which has made or intends to make a direct foreign investment in Bulgaria, in which control is exercised directly or indirectly by: one or more natural persons, who are not citizens of a Member State of the European Union, one or more legal entities, whose headquarters are not in a Member State of the European Union, or another legal entity, organized under the law of a State, that is not a Member of the European Union;
- c) a legal person, or other legal entity, whose headquarters according to the organizational act is in a Member State of the European Union, which has made or intends to make a direct foreign investment in Bulgaria, in which, by virtue of a contract or internal rules, one or more natural or legal persons, established in countries outside the European Union, have direct or indirect control over the specific investment, or which by virtue of a treaty or multilateral transaction makes a foreign direct investment, falling within the scope of this Act, in its own name, but for the account of a person under the letters " a" and "b".
- 2. "Foreign direct investment" is an investment of any kind by a foreign investor, aimed at establishing or maintaining permanent and direct links between the foreign investor and the entrepreneur or the enterprise, to whom or to which the capital is provided in order to carry out economic activity in Bulgaria, including an investment, that enables effective participation in the management or control of a company, carrying out economic activity. Foreign direct investment is also the expansion of an existing investment, including the expansion of the capacity of an existing enterprise, the diversification of the production of an enterprise with products, that were not produced before, as well as the creation of a new place for carrying out the activity or the increase of the capital of the site of the investment, provided that the shares are acquired by the foreign investor. A portfolio (passive) investment is not a direct foreign investment.
- 3. "Screening" is a proceeding, that enables foreign direct investment to be assessed, examined, permitted, conditioned, prohibited or terminated.
- 4. "Control" is a concept within the meaning of § 1c of the Additional Provisions of the Commercial Act.
- 5. "New investment" is an initial investment in tangible and intangible assets, related to the start of the activity of a new enterprise, the expansion of the capacity of an existing enterprise, the diversification of the production of an enterprise through products, that were not previously produced, or a significant change in the general production process of an existing enterprise.
- 6. "Foreign investor from Russia or the Republic of Belarus" is: a) a natural person, who is a citizen of Russia or the Republic of Belarus;
- b) a legal entity, whose seat is located in Russia or the Republic of Belarus, which has made or intends to make a direct foreign investment in Bulgaria;
- c) a legal entity, whose seat, according to its articles of incorporation is in a country outside Russia and the Republic of Belarus, which has made or intends to make a direct foreign investment in Bulgaria, in which 25 percent or more of the ownership belongs to one or more natural persons, who are citizens of Russia or the Republic of Belarus, one or more legal entities, whose headquarters are in Russia or the Republic of Belarus, or another legal entity, organized under the legislation of Russia or Belarus.
- § 2. (new, SG 37/04, in force from August 8 2004; amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007; revoked SG 41/09)

#### Transitional and concluding provisions

- § 3. (prev § 1 SG 37/04) This Act revokes the Act on Promotion and Protection of Foreign Investments (prom., SG, No 8 of 1992; amend. and suppl., No 92 and 102 of 1995, No 109 of 1996; corr., No 110 of 1996; amend., No 55 and 58 of 1997).
- § 4. (prev § 2-SG 37/04) The following amendments are introduced in the Statistics Act: 1. In Art. 21 the words "five hundred to one thousand" are replaced by "80 000 to 600 000". 2. In Art. 22 the words "one thousand to one thousand and five hundred" are replaced by "600 000 to 2 000 000". 3. In Art. 23 the words "one thousand to two thousands" are replaced by "1 000 000 to 2 000 000". 4. In Art. 24 the words "five thousand to ten thousand" are replaced by "1 000 000 to 3 000 000".
- § 5. (prev § 3 SG 37/04) Within two months from the enactment of the National Statistical Institute Act shall work out methodology according to which statistical information regarding foreign investments shall be produced, in compliance with the international standards.
- § 6. (prev § 4 SG 37/04) The companies with foreign holding, which have carried out import under the conditions of Art. 15a of the Act on Promotion and Protection of Foreign Investments, under (1, shall present to the customs authorities court decision for inclusion of the non-monetary deposit to the capital of the company within 6 months from the enactment of the law.
- § 7. (New SG 29/98; prev § 1 SG 37/04)In cases other than the cases under the preceding paragraph, Art. 14, 15 and 17 of the Act shall not apply for commodities which, by October 24, 1997 have been registered under the regime of temporary import."
- § 8. (prev § 5 SG 37/04) In cases of using tax relief under other laws the provision of Art. 20 shall apply for the remainder of the 10-year period.
- § 9. (prev § 6 SG 37/04) Within two months from the entry into force of the Act the Council of Ministers shall adopt regulations for the structure and activity of the Foreign Investments Agency.
- § 10. (prev § 7 SG 37/04; revoked SG 32/15)
- § 11. (prev § 8 SG 37/04; amend. SG 42/07, in force from 30.08.2007) The implementation of the Act shall be assigned to the Council of Ministers.

§ 12. (prev § 9 - SG 37/04) The Act shall be enacted on the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette. The Act was adopted by the 38th National Assembly on October 16, 1997 and was affixed with the state seal. The Act was adopted by the 38th National Assembly on October 16, 1997 and was affixed with the state seal.

#### Transitional and concluding provisions (SG 37/04)

......§ 26. (1) The Bulgarian Investment Agency is a legal successor of the Agency for foreign investments. (2) Within one month from the enactment of this Act the Minister of Economy shall put forward in the Council of Ministers a draft decree for amendment of the structural regulation of the Agency for foreign investments.

§ 27. (1) Within one month from the enactment of this Act the heads of all administrations shall appoint or assign functions to one or more persons in the respective administration for carrying out interaction with the employees of the Agency and assistance to the investors or to their authorized representatives, having obtained certificate for class of investment, and shall inform the Bulgarian Investment Agency for the appointed persons. (2) The executive director of the Bulgarian Investment Agency shall appoint employees of the Agency for carrying out individual administrative services to investors, and within two months from the enactment of this Act, shall produce to the Minister of Economy a list of the names of the persons under para 1.

§ 28. \	Nithin up to three months from the promulgation of this Act in the Sta	e Gazette the
Counc	il of Ministers shall adopt regulations for its implementation.	

§ 34. This Act shall enter into force within three months from the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette with exception of § 20, 27 and 28 which shall enter into force on the day of promulgation of the Act in the State Gazette.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE COMMERCIAL REGISTER ACT

(PROM. – SG 34/06, IN FORCE FROM 01.10.2006) § 56. This Act enters in force from 1st of October 2006, except § 2 and § 3, which enter in force from the date of promulgation of the Act in the State Gazette.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE CREDIT INSTITUTIONS ACT

(PROM. – SG 59/06) § 36. The Act shall enter into force from the date of entry into effect of the Treaty concerning the Accession of the Republic of Bulgaria to the European Union, except for § 35, item 2, which shall enter into force from the date of promulgation of the Act in State Gazette.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE WATERS ACT

(PROM. – SG 65/06, IN FORCE FROM 11.08.2006) § 145. The Act shall enter into force from the date of its promulgation State Gazette, except for the following provisions: 1. paragraph 18, item 3, which shall enter into force one year after the entry into force of this Act; 2. paragraph 48 – in the part concerning the provision of Art. 118, para 1, item 1, which shall enter into force from 22nd of December 2013; 3. paragraph 60, item 5, which shall enter into force from the 1st of March 2007; 4. paragraph 73 - in the part concerning the provision of Art. 155a, para 1, item 1, which shall enter into force one year after the entry into force of this Act

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE STATE AID LAW

(PROM. – SG 86/06, IN FORCE FROM 01.01.2007) § 11. The Act shall enter into force from the date of entry into effect of the Treaty concerning the Accession of the Republic of Bulgaria to the European Union

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

(PROM. – SG 42/07, IN FORCE FROM 30.08.2007)  $\S$  34. Everywhere in the Act the phrase "and energy" shall be added after the words "the Minister of Economy" and "Minister of Economy"

- § 35. (1) The investment projects which have received a class of investment certificate under the hitherto existing order shall be encouraged until realization of the investment for a period not longer than three years, commencing on the date of granting a certificate.
- (2) (amend. SG 41/09) The investment plans under Para 1 of first class may be encouraged under the hitherto existing order of Art. 20 amended by this Act, if meeting the following conditions:
- 1. an application by the investor to be submitted before the Minister of Economy and Energy for use of the measure within three months from entry into force of this Act;

- 2. (amend. SG 41/09) the conditions of European Commission Regulation (EC) No 800/2008 to national regional aid scheme under Art. 22b for granting aid for construction of the technical infrastructure components with funds of the republic budget, or; 3. an approval by the European Commission for conformity of the planned state aid by the order of the State Aid Law.
- (3) (suppl. SG 41/09) The first class investment plans referred to in Para 1 shall be encouraged by the hitherto existing order of Art. 18 amended by this Act according to the effective legislation in the field of the state aid for granting individual aid for construction of components of technical infrastructure from funds of the republic budget
- § 36. The scope of the economic activities under Art. 12, Para 2, Item 2 and the products manufactured as a result of the investments in these activities shall be determined in the regulations on implementation of the Act according to the classification of the National Statistical Institute in compliance with the Statistics Act.
- § 37. The applications for granting a class of investment certificate submitted before entry into force of this Act shall be considered under the hitherto existing order.
- § 39. This Act shall enter into force after three months from its promulgation in the State Gazette.

## Transitional and concluding provisions ON THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

(PROM. - SG 41/09) § 22. The investment projects that have been granted a Class A or Class B investment certificate under the hitherto effective order shall be encouraged under the order of this Act, if the requirements of Regulation (EC) No 800/2008 have been met.

§ 23. By 31 December 2010 may apply temporary measures for state aid compatible with the common market on grounds of Art. 87, Paragraph 3, Letter "b" of the Treaty Establishing the European Community, if the Commission has been notified and all requirements of Communication from the Commission – Temporary Community Framework for State Aid Measures to Support Access to Finance in the Current Financial and Economic Crisis (OJ, C 16/1 of 22 January 2009) have been met.

§ 24. (1) The provisions of Commission Regulation (EC) No 1628/2006 of 24 October 2006 on the application of Articles 87 and 88 of the Treaty to national regional investment aid shall apply until entry into force of this Act, and Commission Regulation (EC) No 68/2001 of 12 January 2001 on the application of Articles 87 and 88 of the EC Treaty to training aid shall be in force by 31 December 2008. (2) Aid granted before 31 December 2008 meeting the requirements of the Regulation referred to in Para 1 shall be compatible with the common market and shall be exempt from the notification obligation under Art. 88, Paragraph 3 of the Treaty Establishing the European Community.

§ 25. After entry into force of the training aid scheme and regional investment aid scheme a summary information shall be drawn up according to Art. 9, Paragraph 1 of Regulation No 800/2008 in electronic format for the purpose of informing the European Commission through the developed SANI system .

§ 26. Within 5 months from entry into force of this Act the Council of Ministers shall bring into compliance with it the subordinate acts on its implementation .

## Transitional and concluding provisions ON THE ACT AMENDING THE TOURISM ACT

(PROM. - SG 82/09, IN FORCE FROM 16.10.2009) § 37. Everywhere in the Investment Promotion Act (prom. - SG 97/97; corr. - SG 99/97; amend. - SG 29 and 153/98, SG 110/99, SG 28/02, SG 37/04; corr. - SG 40/04; amend. 34, 59, 65, 80, 82 and 86/06, SG 42 and 53/07, SG 69/08 and 41/09) the words "the Minister of Economy and Energy", "Minister of Economy and Energy" and "the Ministry of Economy and Energy" shall be replaced respectively with "the Minister of Economy, Energy and Tourism", "Minister of Economy, Energy and Tourism" and "the Ministry of Economy, Energy and Tourism".

.....

§ 59. This Act shall enter into force from the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette.

# Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE PRIVATIONSATION AND POST PRIVATISATION CONTROL ACT

(PROM. - SG 18/10, IN FORCE FROM 05.03.2010) § 36. This Act shall enter into force from the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE MINISTRY OF INTERIOR ACT

(PROM. – SG 88/10, IN FORCE FROM 09.11.2010) § 117. This Act shall enter into force from the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette, except for § 1-23, § 25, §27-30, § 32 – 34, § 40, § 41, § 43-55, § 63-89 and § 91 – 114, which shall enter into force from 1st of January 2011.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE CIVIL SERVANTS ACT

(PROM. - SG 38/12, IN FORCE FROM 01.07.2012)

- § 84. (In force from 18.05.2012) Within one month from the promulgation of this Act in the State Gazette: 1. the Council of Ministers shall make the Classification of Offices in the Administration compliant with this Act; 2. the competent authorities shall make the structural acts of the respective administration compliant with this Act.
- § 85. (1) The legal relationships with the persons of the administrations under the Radio and Television Act, the Independent Financial Audit Act, the Electronic Communications Act, the Financial Supervision Commission Act, the Act on Access to and Disclosure of the Documents and Announcing Affiliation of Bulgarian Citizens with the State Security Service and the Intelligence Services of the Bulgarian Popular Army, the Confiscation by the State of Proceeds of Crime Act, the Act on Prevention and Findings of Conflict of Interests, the Code of Social Insurance, the Health Insurance Act, the Agricultural Producers Support Act and the Roads Act shall be settled under terms and conditions of § 36 of the Transitional and Concluding Provisions of the Act Amending and Supplementing the Civil Servants Act (SG 24/06).
- (2) The act of appointment of the civil servant shall: 1. determine the lowest rank for the position specified in the Classification of Offices in the Administration, unless the officer holds a higher rank; 2. determine an individual basic monthly salary.
- (3) The additional funds for insurance installments for the persons referred to in Para 2 shall be made available within the limits for expenses for salaries, remunerations and insurance installments in the budgets of the budget credit administrators.
- (4) The Council of Ministers shall amend as required by this Act the non-budget account of State Fund "Agriculture".
- (5) The governing bodies of the National Insurance Institute and the National Health Insurance Fund shall amend as required by this Act the respective budget credits.
- (6) Any non-used days of leave under employment relations shall be preserved and shall not be subject to pecuniary compensation.
- § 86. (1) Within one month from entry into force of this Act the individual basic monthly salary of the officer shall be so calculated that the said salary, reduced by the due taxes and the mandatory insurance installments due by the insured person, if available, shall not be lower than gross monthly salary received before, reduced by the mandatory insurance installments due by the insured person, if available, and the due taxes.

(2) The gross salary referred to in Para 1 shall include: 1. the basic monthly salary or the basic monthly remuneration; 2. the additional remunerations paid on permanent basis together with the due basic monthly salary or the basic monthly remuneration and dependent only on the working time.

§ 87. This Act shall enter into force from 1 July 2012 except for § 84, which shall enter into force from the day of the promulgation of the Act in the State Gazette.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP ACT

(PROM. - SG 45/12, IN FORCE FROM 01.01.2013) § 16. This Act shall enter into force from 1 January 2013, except § 4, § 5, § 7, § 8, § 9, § 10 and § 13, which shall enter into force from 1 September 2012. Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE PUBLIC FINANCE ACT

(PROM. SG 15/13, IN FORCE FROM 01.01.2014) § 123. This Act shall enter into force on 1 January 2014 with the exception of § 115, which enters into force on January 1, 2013, and § 18, § 114, § 120, § 121 and § 122, which came into force on 1 February in 2013. Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

(PROM. - SG 16/13) § 28. The provisions of Art. 12, Item 5, Letter "d" and Art. 22e shall not apply to investment projects certified and applied for certification before entry into force of the present Law. Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE SPATIAL DEVELOPMENT ACT

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE SPATIAL DEVELOPMENT ACT

(PROM. – SG 98/14, IN FORCE FROM 28.11.2014) § 117. The Act shall enter into force from the date of its promulgation in the State Gazette.

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTATING THE ACT ON PROHIBITION OF CHEMICAL WEAPONS AND ON CONTROL OF TOXIC CHEMICAL AGENTS AND THEIR PRECURSORS

§ 27. In the Investment Promotion Act the words "the Minister of Economy, Energy and Tourism" and "the Ministry of Economy, Energy and Tourism" shall be replaced by "the Minister of Economy" and "the Ministry of Economy" everywhere.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTATING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

(PROM. – SG 32/15) § 11. (1) Within three months after entering of this act into force the Regulations for the application of the act shall be brought into compliance therewith and with Regulation (EC) No. 651/2014. (2) The regional investment aid scheme and the training aid scheme shall enter into force simultaneously with entering into force of amendments in the Regulations referred to in par. 1. (3) The Ministry of Economy shall produce summary information about the schemes to be submitted to the European Commission following the procedure and within the terms provided in Art. 9 of the State Aid Act and Art. 11, item "a" of Regulation (EC) No. 651/2014. § 12. The regional investment aid scheme and the training aid scheme shall apply to investment projects and training projects the works under which have not commenced before entering of the schemes into force.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE CONCESSIONS ACT

(PROM. - SG 96/17, IN FORCE FROM 02.01.2018) § 41. The Act shall enter into force within one month from its promulgation in the State Gazette with the exception of: 1. Article 45, Para. 5, which enters into force within 12 months of the promulgation of the Act in the State Gazette; 2. Article 191, Para. 2-5, Art. 192 and 193, which shall enter into force on 31 January 2019.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT

(PROM. - SG 20/18, IN FORCE FROM 06.03.2018)

- § 6. Within two months of the entry into force of this Act, the Implementing Rules thereof shall be brought into line with it and with Regulation (EU) № 651/2014.
- § 7. The regional investment aid scheme and the training aid scheme, exempt from the notification requirement of Regulation (EU) № 651/2014, shall not apply from 10 January 2018 until the Regulations for the implementation of the Act have been brought in compliance with Regulation (EU) № 651/2014.

- § 8. The amended regional investment aid scheme and training aid scheme shall apply to investment projects and training projects, for which a certificate has been issued under the law prior to the entry into force of the amended schemes, if the projects meet all the conditions laid down therein.
- § 9. This Act shall enter into force on the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette.

Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACT (PROM. - SG 21/20, IN FORCE FROM 13.03.2020) § 56. The Act shall enter into force on the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette. ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT Concluding provisions TO THE ACT AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT (PROM. - SG 22/22, IN FORCE FROM 18.03.2022)

§ 8. The Act shall enter into force on the day of its promulgation in the State Gazette.

## Transitional and concluding provisions TO THE ACT, AMENDING AND SUPPLEMENTING THE INVESTMENT PROMOTION ACT (PROM. – SG, 20/24)

- § 10. No application shall be submitted according to Art. 27a for a foreign direct investment, that began to be realized after the entry into force of this Act and until the Rules for the implementation of the Act are brought into line with it and the Rules for the organization and activities of the Interdepartmental Screening Council are adopted.
- § 11. Within a period of 6 months from the entry into force of this Act, the Council of Ministers shall bring the Rules for the implementation of the Act into compliance with this Act and with Regulation (EU) 2019/452.
- § 12. Within 6 months of the entry into force of this Act, the Council of Ministers shall adopt Rules for the organization and activities of the Interdepartmental Screening Council.

Editor's note \* Editor's note: The amendment to this issue of the State Gazette refers to replacing a word with its synonym, which is practically untranslatable in English.

\* \* \*